**RECEIVED**

**Jul 01 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

T. Scott Beck, Commissioner and Chairman for the Panel  
R. Michael Campbell, Commissioner  
Gene McCaskill, Commissioner

---

Appellate Case No. 2022-000581  
Case No.: W.C.C. File No.: 1611416

---

John A. Hinson, Employee,

Respondent,

v.

BS Telecommunications, Employer, and Old Republic Insurance Co.,  
Carrier, Defendants, of which BS Telecommunications is the

Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Michael E. Patterson, Jr.  
Christopher C. Mingledorff  
Mingledorff & Patterson, LLC

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Appellate Panel err by finding the language of the Agreement required Appellant to pay anything other than the \$200.00 outstanding balance to Dr. Mullen? (Appellate Order at p. 5-6, ¶ 14-16).
  
2. Did the Appellate Panel err in the admission of parol evidence to assist in its determination of the intent of the parties in drafting the Agreement and the interpretation of the language of the Agreement? (Appellate Order at p. 4, ¶ 5); (*Id.* at p. 4, ¶ 7); (*Id.* at p. 6, ¶ 18).
  - A. Did the Appellate Panel err by using a prior consent order (see Claimant's Exhibit #1) as parol evidence to help interpret the language of the Agreement and or the responsibilities of the parties pursuant to the Agreement? (Appellate Order at p. 4 ¶ 7).
  
  - B. Did the Appellate Panel err by using a prior consent order (see Claimant's Exhibit #1) as parol evidence to help interpret the language of the Agreement and the responsibilities of the parties pursuant to the Agreement when Respondent's counsel agreed at the hearing before Commissioner Wilkerson the Agreement controls the issue and takes precedence over the prior consent order (see the 4/28/21 hearing transcript pages 9 & 10)? (Appellate Order at p. 4, ¶ 7).
  
  - C. Did the Appellate Panel err by failing to explain, justify or cite to specific evidence that would require and/or allow the introduction and admission of parol evidence to assist in determining the intent of the parties and in evaluating the language contained in the Agreement? (Appellate Order at p. 4, ¶ 5); (*Id.* at p. 4, ¶ 7); (*Id.* at p. 6, ¶ 18).
  
3. If the Appellate Panel was correct in allowing the introduction and admission of parol evidence, then did the Appellate Panel err in its interpretation of the parol evidence that was admitted, when an email from Appellant (see Claimant's Exhibits #2-4) clearly states its intent was to only pay the outstanding balance to Dr. Mullen? (Appellate Order at p. 4, ¶ 5); (*Id.* at p. 4, ¶ 7); (*Id.* at p. 6, ¶ 18).
  
4. Did the Appellate Panel err by finding that a settlement agreement between represented parties, which is not titled as an "order", is not reviewed or approved by a commissioner, nor signed by a commissioner, is an order of the Commission? (Appellate Order at p. 5, ¶ 15).
  - A. Did the Appellate Panel err in its interpretation of South Carolina Code Section 42-9-390, especially when considering the revisions, or more appropriately stated, deletions, to this specific section, which were enacted by the South Carolina Legislature as part of the 2007 South Carolina Workers' Compensation reforms, in determining that a settlement agreement between represented parties, which is not signed and not reviewed by a commissioner is an order of the Commission? (Appellate Order at p. 10, ¶ 7).

- B. Did the Appellate Panel fail to apply the rules of statutory construction by finding either, or both, South Carolina Regulation 67-801 and 67-803 controlled the issue of whether a settlement agreement is an order of the Commission when the settlement agreement is not signed and not reviewed by a commissioner and is in contravention of the plain language contained in South Carolina Code Section 42-9-390? (Appellate Order at p. 10, ¶ 7).
5. If the Agreement is not an order, then does South Carolina Code Section 42-3-175(A) apply? (Appellate Order at p. 10, ¶ 7).
6. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in awarding attorney's fees and costs to Respondent if South Carolina Code Section 42-3-175(A) only applies to orders? (Appellate Order at p. 10, ¶ 10).
- A. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in awarding attorney's fees and costs to Respondent's attorney pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 42-3-175(A) when there were no specific findings of fact as to whether employer and carrier had good cause as required by the statute? (Appellate Order at p. 10, ¶ 10).
- B. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in awarding sanctions against Appellant in the amount of \$30.00 per day for 386 days pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 42-3-175(A) when there were no specific findings of fact, or any evidence of, willful disobedience as required by 42-3-175(A)? (Appellate Order at p. 10-11, ¶ 11).
- C. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in failing to specify what facts and evidence led to the sanctions against Appellant? (Appellate Order at p. 10-11, ¶ 11).
7. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in failing to specify whether Appellant must pay Dr. Mullen directly and also reimburse the balance to Respondent; or, whether Appellant are to pay Dr. Mullen directly and then Dr. Mullen is to reimburse Respondent; or, whether Appellant is supposed to only reimburse Respondent for his out-of-pocket payments to Dr. Mullen and Appellant is not required to pay any money directly to Dr. Mullen? (Appellate Order at p. 7-8, ¶ 25).
8. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in failing to specify Respondent's counsel's hourly rate when he awarded Respondent's counsel four (4) hours of attorney's fees, which are to be paid by Appellant? (Appellate Order at p. 8, ¶ 26); (*Id.* at p. 10, ¶ 10).
- A. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in failing to conduct any analysis as to what a reasonable hourly rate or reasonable attorney's fee would be when he awarded Respondent's counsel four (4) hours of attorney's fees. (Appellate Order at p. 8, ¶ 26); (*Id.* at p. 10, ¶ 10).
9. Whether the Appellate Panel erred in awarding sanctions of \$30.00 per day for 386 days, which amounts to \$11,580.00, when the amount in question is potentially \$200.00,

Respondent has suffered no detriment and Respondent only attempted to address the issue with Appellant once over the course of an entire year? (Appellate Order at p. 8, ¶ 27).

10. Whether the Appellate Panel violated Appellant's right to due process, violated the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution by awarding sanctions in the amount of \$30.00 per day for 386 days, which amounts to \$11,580.00, when the amount in question is potentially \$200.00 and there has been no finding or evidence of willful disobedience. (Appellate Order at p. 8, ¶ 27); (*Id.* at p. 10, ¶ 8-9).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant is asking the Court of Appeals to reverse the decisions of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission Appellate Panel (hereinafter the "Appellate Panel") and South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commissioner Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr. (hereinafter "Commissioner Wilkerson").

On March 19, 2020, the parties entered into and executed a full and final settlement agreement, titled "Settlement Agreement and Release" (hereinafter the "Agreement"), and otherwise generically known as a "clincher agreement" in workers' compensation parlance. The Agreement was received by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission (hereinafter the "Commission") and stamped as filed on March 23, 2020. The Commission then closed its case file on March 26, 2020.

On March 29, 2021, approximately one year after the Agreement was executed by the parties, Respondent filed a Motion to Compel. Respondent's Motion alleged Appellant owed Respondent more money than the \$285,000.00 Appellant already paid to Respondent pursuant to the Agreement. Respondent's Motion also sought sanctions against Appellant as well as attorney's fees and costs.

Appellant timely filed a response to Respondent's Motion. Arguments on Respondent's Motion were heard by Commissioner Wilkerson on April 28, 2021.

On July 13, 2021, Commissioner Wilkerson issued an “Order Imposing Sanctions” against Appellant. The Order from Commissioner Wilkerson found the Agreement was an order of the Commission despite the fact the Agreement was not reviewed or signed by a Commissioner, Appellant owed additional money in excess of the original settlement agreement, Appellant owed four (4) hours of attorney’s fees, fifty dollars (\$50.00) in costs, and ordered sanctions against Appellant in the amount of five hundred dollars (\$500.00) per day from March 23, 2020 to April 12, 2021, which totaled approximately one hundred ninety-nine thousand dollars (\$199,000.00).

On July 27, 2021, Appellant timely filed a Form 30 Request for Commission Review. Both parties timely filed briefs with the Appellate Panel. On January 24, 2022, the Appellate Panel heard oral arguments on the matter.

The Appellate Panel issued an Order on April 20, 2021, affirming Commissioner Wilkerson’s Order in every aspect but for the amount of the sanctions imposed against Appellant. The Appellate Panel reduced the sanctions to a total of eleven thousand five hundred eighty dollars (\$11,580.00), or \$30.00 per day for 386 days.

Appellant then timely served and filed a Notice of Appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals on April 29, 2022.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the Appellate Panel. Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010). Under the APA, an appellate court may reverse or modify the decision of the Appellate Panel if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and

substantial evidence on the whole record. S.C. Code Ann. § 1–23–380(5)(d), (e); Transp. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689–90 (2010).

The Appellate Panel is the ultimate factfinder in workers' compensation cases. Shealy v. Aiken Cnty., 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). As a general rule, an appellate court must affirm the findings of fact made by the Appellate Panel if they are supported by substantial evidence. Pierre, 386 S.C. at 540, 689 S.E.2d at 618 (2010). “Substantial evidence is that evidence which, in considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the [Appellate Panel] reached.” Hill v. Eagle Motor Lines, 373 S.C. 422, 436, 645 S.E.2d 424, 431 (2007). Although, “[t]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent the [Appellate Panel's] finding from being supported by substantial evidence.” Id. Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action. Bass v. Isochem, 365 S.C. 454, 468, 617 S.E.2d 369, 376 (Ct. App. 2005).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On August 20, 2016, Respondent suffered multiple injuries when he fell from a ladder while installing a Direct TV dish on the roof of a customer’s house. Appellant provided all benefits Respondent was entitled to under the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act (hereinafter the “Act”).

Part of Respondent’s treatment included treatment for psychological overlay with Dr. Mullen at Poinsette Psychiatric Group (hereinafter “Dr. Mullen”). Appellant initially denied the compensability of Respondent’s psychological overlay, but later agreed to the compensability of this psychological overlay through a consent order with Respondent.

The parties began to discuss settlement in August of 2019. While settlement negotiations were ongoing, the value of the claim was negotiated extensively. By the time the amount of settlement was reached, Appellant had paid Respondent 181 weeks of temporary total disability (hereinafter “TTD”). Based on the number of weeks Appellant had paid TTD, the net present value of the claim was approximately 301 weeks. Based on Respondent’s compensation rate (\$555.84), the net present value of the claim was worth approximate \$167,000.00.

At the time the settlement agreement was executed, Respondent had paid out-of-pocket for his treatment with Dr. Mullen. The total amount Respondent paid to Dr. Mullen was \$3,425.00. However, at the time the Agreement was executed, there was a \$200.00 outstanding balance owed to Dr. Mullen.

In addition to the compensable portions of the claim, there were other parts of the claim that were denied and disputed by Appellant. Respondent also had future medical requirements and out-of-pocket expenses that went into the negotiation of the Agreement. Ultimately, the parties agreed to a total settlement amount of \$285,000.00.

Once the parties reached an agreement on the value of the claim, the parties continued to negotiate, for over a month, the specific language of the Agreement. One of the terms negotiated by the parties, was that Appellant would reimburse Respondent for any outstanding mileage that Respondent would be entitled to under the Act. Therefore, there is an express provision in the clincher addressing this reimbursement.

The parties also contemplated the payment for any authorized medical bills that were currently outstanding as of February 13, 2020. To address this issue, the parties included the following language in the Agreement,

“Employer and Carrier will pay any previously authorized medical expenses to medical providers that were incurred prior to February 13, 2020. but have inadvertently not been paid as of the date of this agreement.”

During the continued negotiation of the language of the Agreement, there were numerous email exchanges between counsel for Appellant and counsel for Respondent. On March 11, 2020, prior to the execution of the Agreement, counsel for Appellant sent counsel for Respondent an email which included language explicitly stating to counsel for Respondent that counsel for Appellant would discuss payment of the outstanding balance to Dr. Mullen with the adjuster. At the time of this email, all parties were aware that the outstanding balance to Dr. Mullen was \$200.00. Counsel for Respondent never responded to this email in any way with an objection to this interpretation of the Agreement.

On March 19, 2020, the parties signed and executed the Agreement. The Agreement was received by the Commission and stamped as filed on March 23, 2020. The Commission then closed its case file on March 26, 2020.

Between March 23, 2020, and March 29, 2021, Respondent’s counsel sent exactly one email to Appellant’s counsel regarding the outstanding \$200.00 medical bill. This one and only communication from Respondent’s counsel was sent on July 8, 2020, four months after execution of the Agreement. Counsel for Appellant reviewed the Agreement’s terms and conditions to ensure all of Appellant’s obligations had been fulfilled. No other communications were received from Respondent’s counsel until he filed his Motion to Compel on March 29, 2021, more than a year after the claim was closed.

Once Appellant received the Motion, they sent a check for \$200.00 to Dr. Mullen, to pay the outstanding balance. This check was confirmed received by Dr. Mullen prior to the April 28, 2021, hearing with Commissioner Wilkerson.

To date, there has been no allegation that Respondent suffered any prejudice as a result of this outstanding \$200.00 balance. Respondent has produced no evidence, that Dr. Mullen sent any letters to Respondent asking for payment of the outstanding balance. Respondent has produced no evidence that Dr. Mullen sent Respondent to a collections agency as a result of this outstanding balance.

Respondent's Motion to Compel alleged Appellant was responsible for reimbursement of the entire amount (\$3,425.00) Respondent paid out-of-pocket to Dr. Mullen, as well as the outstanding balance of \$200.00; or, alternatively, payment of the entire bill to Dr. Mullen pursuant to the South Carolina Medical Fee Schedule, and Dr. Mullen would then reimburse Claimant for his out-of-pocket expenses. Additionally, Respondent sought sanctions, attorney's fees, and costs pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 42-3-175(A).

Appellant raised numerous arguments and timely filed a response to Respondent's Motion. The hearing was held on April 28, 2021, before Commissioner Wilkerson.

On July 13, 2021, Commissioner Wilkerson issued his Order. The Order concluded that the Agreement was an order of the Commission whether it was signed by a commissioner or not. Commissioner Wilkerson also found that "medical bills are to be paid directly to Dr. Mullen at Poinsett Psychiatric. Reimburse balance to Respondent." In addition to these findings, Commissioner Wilkerson also imposed sanctions on the Appellants in the amount of \$193,000.00. The Order states that the sanctions were calculated based on \$500.00 a day from

March 23, 2020, to April 12, 2021. Finally, Commissioner Wilkerson ordered the payment of four hours of attorney's fees and \$50.00 in costs.

After filing for Appellate Panel review, briefing and the Appellate Panel Hearing, the Appellate Panel affirmed all of Commissioner Wilkerson's findings, but reduced the amount of sanctions against Appellant to \$11,580.00, or \$30.00 per day for 386 days. Appellant then filed this appeal.

### **ARGUMENTS**

#### **1. APPELLANT FULLY COMPLIED WITH THE AGREEMENT, AND THE APPELLATE PANEL ERRED IN ITS INTERPRETATION OF THE AGREEMENT.**

There is zero ambiguity in the Agreement that the only amounts being paid by Appellant was the following: 1. Two Hundred Eighty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$285,000.00) being paid to Respondent; 2. Reimbursement to Respondent for any authorize mileage Defendant's had yet to pay; and 3. Any unpaid bills to an authorized medical provider which had not yet been paid. (*See generally* The Agreement).

The language in the Agreement clearly states, "Employer and Carrier will pay any previously authorized medical expenses to medical providers that were incurred prior to February 13, 2020, but have inadvertently not been paid as of the date of this agreement." (The Agreement p. 3). When the Agreement was signed there was a \$200.00 balance at Dr. Mullen. Prior to the Hearing Appellant's had paid off this \$200.00 balance. (The Appellate Order p. 4).

The Agreement also clearly states the Agreement was full and final. The following conditions in the Agreement make this clear.

- [In] consideration of the sum of Two Hundred Eighty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$285,000.00) paid to Claimant. the undersigned Jon Hinson, **does hereby release and forever discharge Employer and Carrier from any and all claims, demands, actions**

or causes of action under the South Carolina Worker's Compensation Act; (The Agreement p. 3).

- [Claimant] **does hereby acknowledge that Employer and Carrier have fully, finally and completely paid and discharged each and every of their obligations, liabilities and responsibilities under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act** and that the sum set forth above is being paid to, and received by, the undersigned Jon Hinson, in full and final satisfaction of all claims whatsoever as a result of the alleged accident described above **and that Employer and Carrier shall not henceforth be liable for the payment of any amount whatsoever;** *Id.*
- It is expressly understood, and the parties agree that any medical treatment authorized and/or paid for by Employer and Carrier does not constitute any admission of liability under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act on the part of the Employer and Carrier for any claims not specifically admitted herein; (*Id. at p. 2*).
- On account of the doubts that exist as to what benefits, if any, Claimant would be adjudged to be entitled to recover under the Workers' Compensation Act, Claimant and Employer and Carrier, with the approval of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, have deemed it advisable, proper and in the best interests of all parties to compromise **and settle all possible liabilities and controversies between them,** now and in the future; *Id.*
- The parties acknowledge the Commission **relies upon the representation of counsel for Claimant** that Claimant has been fully apprised of his rights under the laws of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act and he believes the settlement is reasonable and fair and thus requests the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission approve this settlement as set forth herein. (The Agreement p. 6).
- **Claimant further acknowledges the consideration herein expressly recited is the sole and only consideration for the execution hereof, and no promise, agreement or suggestions of any other or additional consideration has been made to, or received by, the undersigned, Jon Hinson.** *Id.*

The Agreement indicates numerous times Respondent's acceptance of \$285,000.00 would release Appellant from all future liability. (*See generally* The Agreement). In addition, this language makes it clear Appellant has fully, finally, and completely fulfilled all its obligations. (The Agreement p. 2). The Agreement is unambiguous and specifically states all ***possible liabilities and controversies*** between the parties **were settled now and in the future.** *Id.* The Agreement further states Respondent agreed to the fact that the consideration ***expressly recited*** in the Agreement was the only consideration that he was entitled to. (The Agreement p. 6). Therefore,

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