RECEIVED

Aug 30 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

T. Scott Beck, Commissioner and Chairman for the Panel
R. Michel Campbell, Commissioner
Gene McCaskill, Commissioner

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000581
Case No.: W.C.C. File No.: 1611416

Jon A. Hinson, Employee,

Respondent

v.

BS Telecommunications, Employer, and Old Republic Insurance Co.,
Carrier, Defendants, of which BS Telecommunications is the

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

August 30, 2022

Alton L. Martin, Jr.
S.C. Bar No: 064076
Martin & Martin Attorneys, PA
PO Box 8220
Greenville, SC 29605
Telephone: (864) 271-1822

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

LAW AND ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANTS DID NOT FULLY COMPLY WITH THE AGREEMENT.

Compliance with the Clincher Agreement required payment of authorized medical expenses. The phrasing in question specifically addresses the Employer and Carrier's obligation to pay authorized medical expenses.

Employer and Carrier will pay any previously authorized medical expenses to medical providers that were incurred prior to February 13, 2020, but have inadvertently not been paid as of the date of this agreement.

(Clincher p. 3 Emphasis added)

Appellants admit that they owed money for authorized medical expenses pursuant to the Clincher. (Appellants' Brief p. 8-9) They admit that Dr. Mullen was an authorized medical

provider. They admit being contacted about their failure to pay authorized medical expenses to Dr. Mullen's office several months after the Clincher Agreement was filed and approved by the Workers' Compensation Commission. Despite being contacted, they admit continuing in their failure to pay for over a year after the Clincher was filed and approved. Finally, they admit that only after the Respondent filed a Motion to Compel, did they pay \$200.00 of the \$3,825.00 in authorized medical expenses being sought by Respondent. As such, Appellants have conceded they did not fully comply with the Clincher Agreement. Their argument to the contrary is perplexing.

The total amount of Dr. Mullen's authorized medical expenses incurred prior to February 13, 2020, was \$3,825.00. The clincher was approved by the Commission on March 23, 2020. Appellants paid \$200.00 to Dr. Mullen's office on or about April 19, 2021. The remaining \$3,625.00 had been paid by Respondent in order to continue his care by Dr. Mullen. Appellants argue they were only responsible for \$200.00, because it was the only amount that had "inadvertently not been paid." However, Appellants argument gives no logical meaning to the word "inadvertently".

The Oxford Dictionary, defines inadvertently as "- without intention, accidentally." Consider Appellants had previously entered two Consent Orders agreeing to be solely responsible for Dr. Mullen's bills and identifying him as an authorized medical provider. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §42-15-60, the employer may select the authorized medical provider and "cause to be furnished, free of charge to the employee, any medical care or treatment..." Only the employer and carrier are financially responsible for providing authorized medical care under the Act. Employees are not responsible for payment of authorized medical care.

In the present case, Appellants had failed to pay Dr. Mullen's authorized medical expenses of \$3,825.00 in contravention to the two Consent Orders. At the time the Clincher was entered Appellants had paid \$0.00. As such, only Appellants could have "inadvertently" failed to pay Dr. Mullen. Claimant could not "inadvertently" fail to pay a bill that he did not owe and had no duty to pay.

Dr. Mullen was an authorized medical provider. Appellants had specifically agreed to pay Dr. Mullen's authorized medical expenses in two Consent Orders. Appellants failed to pay. Appellants then agreed in the Clincher that they were responsible to pay for authorized medical expenses incurred prior to February 13, 2020 that had inadvertently not been paid. By Respondent paying a portion of the bill owed to Dr. Mullen's office, he did not transform these authorized medical expenses owed by Appellants into something else. The authorized medical expenses that Respondent paid himself, remained authorized medical expenses that had "inadvertently" not been paid by the Appellants.

It is difficult to follow Appellants' reasoning. First, Appellants concede that they owed another \$200.00 in authorized medical expenses pursuant to the terms of the Clincher. However, Appellants then argue they were not responsible for payment of any money for authorized medical expenses pursuant to the terms of the Clincher. While there is extensive release language contained in the Clincher, that language does not alter the other language contained in the Clincher where Appellants agreed to pay for authorized medical expenses that they had inadvertently failed to pay previously. Appellants position is not plausible.

The Latin phrase *Unius est exclusio alterius*, means "the expression of one thing is the exclusion of the other." It is not applicable to this matter. The Clincher expressly addresses payment of authorized medical expenses incurred prior to February 13, 2020. That expressed

term cannot then be excluded by the additional express term in the clincher that addresses mileage reimbursement. This argument is without merit.

The Hearing Commissioner correctly found that Appellant's failed to pay \$200.00 that they admittedly owed, for over 13 months after the Clincher was filed, and then only after a Motion to Compel was filed by Respondent. (Order, Finding 27). Further, the Hearing Commissioner correctly found Appellants owed and willfully refused to pay the other \$3,625.00, that they had "inadvertently" failed to pay at the time the Clincher was entered. (Order, Finding 28). Both of these Findings are supported by Substantial Evidence in the record. Moreover, the Commission found each of these Findings independently supported its imposition of penalties pursuant to §42-3-175. (Finding 27, 28 and Conclusions of Law 6,8,9)

II. THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE DOES NOT APPLY IN WORKERS' COMPENSATION.

As part of the Clincher, Respondent bargained for and expected payment of all the authorized medical expenses he incurred with Dr Mullen's office. At the Motion Hearing, email correspondence and prior Consent Orders introduced by Respondent clearly reflected this was the understanding of the parties at the time the Clincher was entered. (Findings 18, 19 and Conclusion 6).

Appellants argue that the introduction of this evidence was inappropriate, based on the Parol Evidence Rule. Notably, Appellants do not cite a Workers' Compensation case related to this rule. This is because one does not exist.

First, Appellants reliance on this rule is misplaced. According to *Hamilton v. Bob Bennett Ford*, 339 S.C. 68, 528 S.E.2d 667 (2000):

South Carolina Rules of Evidence do not apply in proceedings before the Workers' Compensation Commission. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-330(1) (1986 & Supp. 1999) (except

in proceedings before the Workers' Compensation Commission, rules of evidence apply in contested matters before an agency); see also Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co., 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2d 712 (1940) ("great liberality is exercised in permitting the introduction of evidence in proceedings under Workmen's Compensation Acts.").

The Hearing Commissioner correctly took the email correspondence and Consent Orders into consideration.

Secondly, were the Parol Evidence Rule applicable in Workers' Compensation cases, it would not exclude the evidence in the present case. The Parol Evidence Rule states that "where the terms of a written instrument are unambiguous, clear and explicit, extrinsic evidence of statements made contemporaneously with or prior to its execution are inadmissible to contradict, vary or explain its terms." *Ray v. South Carolina Nat'l. Bank*, 281 S.C. 170, 314 S.E.2d 359 (1984).

At the hearing, and on appeal, the parties have disagreed over the meaning of certain language in the Clincher. Specifically, regarding the issue of whom was responsible for payment of authorized medical expenses, the phrase "have inadvertently not been paid" was in dispute. The Court of Appeals has held that extrinsic evidence should be allowed in cases such as this one where ambiguous language is in dispute. "Ambiguity may arise when all or part of the agreement is 'capable of being understood in more ways than one, an agreement obscure in meaning through indefiniteness of expression, or having a double meaning.' *Ebert v. Ebert*, 320 S.C. 331, 338, 465 S.E.2d 121, 125 (Ct. App. 1995). The Hearing Commissioner allowed the email correspondence and prior Consent Orders to be introduced, in part, to clarify the ambiguity regarding the meaning of the phrase in question, and as evidence of the parties' intent.

Additionally, the Hearing Commissioner noted the Consent Orders were already contained in the Commission's file. (Hearing Transcript, p.14) These documents reflected which medical providers had been authorized and when. Appellants' counsel agreed at the Hearing

before the Single Commissioner that the Consent Orders were contained in the Commissioner's file and therefore admissible.

At a minimum, Appellants conceded at the Single Commissioner hearing, the Full Commission hearing, and in their brief on appeal, that they owed \$200.00 in authorized medical expenses for over a year and failed to pay it until Respondent's Motion was filed. The Hearing Commissioner did not need any extrinsic evidence to determine Appellants failed to timely pay the authorized medical expenses in accordance with the Clincher. Appellants admitted it. As such, even if the Parol Evidence Rule were applicable, which it is not, it would have been harmless error. *Adams v. Marchbanks*, 253 S.C. 280, 170 SE 2d 214 at 215 (1969).

Appellants also argue that the Clincher is controlling and represents the Law of the Case. It is a fundamental rule of law that an appellate court will affirm a ruling by a lower court if the offended party does not challenge that ruling." *Lindsay v. Lindsay*, 328 S.C. 329, 338, 491 S.E.2d 583, 588 (Ct. App. 1997). "Failure to challenge the ruling is an abandonment of the issue and precludes consideration on appeal." *Id.* "The unchallenged ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case and requires affirmance." *Id.* See also *Unisun Ins. v. Hawkins*, 342 S.C. 537, 544, 537 S.E.2d 559, 563 (Ct.App.2000) (stating an unappealed ruling is the law of the case which the appellate court must assume was correct).

The fact that the Clincher represents the Law of the Case does not render the Consent Orders inadmissible as evidence. However, Appellants are correct that neither party appealed the properly filed approved Clincher. Per Appellants' argument, the Clincher became an unappealed ruling of the Commission and represents the Law of the Case. As a result, by admitting that the Clincher is an unappealed ruling or order of the Commission, Appellants contradict and appear to have abandoned their argument that the Clincher is not an order of the

Commission. Additionally, Appellants appear to contradict and abandon their argument that 42-3-175 does not apply to clinchers, on the grounds that clinchers are not orders.

Defendants next argue that it was improper for the Hearing Commissioner to allow the email correspondence to be introduced because it contained prior settlement negotiations. This argument is also without merit. Settlement negotiations are inadmissible to establish liability, but once liability is established and a settlement is reached, they are admissible on the issue of what was agreed to in the settlement. Our Supreme Court in *Neal v. Clark*, 199 S.C. 316, 19 S.E.2d 473 (1942), held:

It is of course true that the law favors compromises and refuses to allow testimony as to negotiations and offers of compromise. But where a settlement has been effected and releases executed and delivered, this fact does not admit liability, but presents a question of fact for the jury as to whether liability is admitted or not. Fayssoux v. Seaboard Air Line Railway, 109 S.C. 352, 96 S.E. 150.

The e-mail of March 11, 2020, makes no reference to a \$200.00 balance, or the parties understanding of the exact amount owed to Dr. Mullen's office. Appellants contacted Dr. Mullens office in April of 2021 to inquire about the amount of money owed. (Hrg. Tr. P. 11) However, the email does confirm Appellants were aware they owed authorized medical expenses related to Dr. Mullen's case.

Appellants argue that a large portion of the amount paid by Respondent to Dr. Mullen was paid at a time when the psychological portion of the claim was denied. First, this is not true. The 2017 Consent Order was issued shortly after the Respondent's first visit with Dr. Mullen. Secondly, it is irrelevant because Appellants agreed to pay all of Respondent's medical expenses incurred from Dr. Mullen and agreed Dr. Mullen was an authorized provider. The timing of Respondent's payments to Dr. Mullen have no bearing on Appellants failure to pay. However, it

does draw attention to the striking similarity between Appellants failure to pay Dr. Mullen's authorized medical expenses in compliance with the two Consent Orders, and their failure to pay in compliance with the Clincher.

III. A SIGNED CLINCHER IS APPROVED UPON BEING PROPERLY FILED WITH THE COMMISSION WITHOUT A COMMISSIONER'S SIGNATURE.

As noted above, Appellants appear to have abandoned their Argument that the Clincher is not an order since it is the Law of the Case. Assuming *arguendo* that Appellants have not abandoned this argument it is also without merit.

First, Appellants miscite S.C Code Ann. §42-9-390. Appellants incorrectly argue, "the statute states that a settlement agreement must only be filed with the commission if the employee is represented." (Appellants' Brief, p. 18). This is incorrect. S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-390 expressly requires the employer file a copy of the settlement agreement with the Commission, whether the claimant is represented or not. It is undisputed that the Clincher herein was properly filed with the Commission.

Next, Appellants wrongly argue that this Clincher was not approved by the Commission. This reasoning is flawed because it ignores the clear wording of S.C. Code Reg. 67-803 interpreting 42-9-390. Pursuant to S.C. Code Reg. 67-803, B, (2), the method in which the commissioner provides approval of a Settlement Agreement (Clincher), when each party is represented by an attorney, is as follows:

Settlement by Agreement and Final Release.

...

B. An Agreement and Final Release **shall be approved** as follows:

...

(2) If the claimant is represented by an attorney, the claimant, his or her attorney, and the attorney for the employer's representative sign the Agreement and Final Release. The Agreement and Final Release shall be filed with the Claims Department.

(a) The attorney for the employer's representative files the original and two copies of the proposed agreement and final release with the Claims Department.

(b) An official copy of the Agreement and Final Release is returned to the attorney for the employer's representative.

(c) The employer's representative shall provide the claimant an official copy of the Agreement.

C. The Commission shall not approve an Agreement and Final Release that is not fairly made and in accordance with the Act. **An approved Agreement and Final Release is binding.** The employer's representative shall pay compensation according to its terms.

(Emphasis added).

Per S.C. Code Reg. 67-801, Settlement of the Claim, General.

F. An official copy of the settlement is **approved and certified by the Commission as binding.**"

(Emphasis added).

It is undisputed that both parties' counsel and the Claimant signed the Clincher. It is undisputed that the signed Clincher was duly filed with the Commission, along with the necessary filing fee. It is undisputed that an official copy of the Clincher was provided to the parties by the Commission. Defendants do not argue that the Clincher was not signed and filed in accordance with these Regulations.

Following the 2007 amendment of §42-9-390, it is no longer necessary for a Clincher in which the claimant is represented by counsel, to be approved *by a Commissioner*. Now, approval is ministerial rather than judicial. By compliance with Regulations 67-801 and 67-803 this Clincher was approved and certified binding by the Commission without the need for a

Commissioner's signature. The Clincher became an Order of the Commission once filed and approved, by operation of law.

Our Supreme Court addressed the enforcement of Workers' Compensation agreements and the imposition of penalties in *Singleton v. Young Lumber Co.*, 236 S.C. 454, 114 S.E.2d 837 at 841 (S.C. 1960). There the Court noted:

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